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The Guilford Battle Ground Company, in 1910, inaugurated an effort to recognize the property as nationally significant and to have it declared a national preserve.  





It was not until March 2, 1917, that the enacting legislation created the Guilford Courthouse National Military Park making it the first battlefield of the American Revolution preserved by the Federal Government. Soon after, the GBGC deeded the land (125 acres) to the United States. 








From 1917 to 1933, the United States War Department operated the park.  Battlefield commissioners, appointed by the Secretary of War, handled the operations of the park and landscape maintenance. The War Department commissioners continued the tradition of placing monuments on the battlefield. However, the “beautification” projects of the commissioners were not signs of preservation of the battlefield; many changes were not appropriate for 1781. Descriptions of the park in the 1920’s reveal scenes more in keeping with a manicured city cemetery than a nationally important battlefield of the American Revolution. 








A few days following his initial purchase, Schenck succeeded in sharing his enthusiasm for the preservation of the battlefield to a group of his closest friends; together they determined to proceed with the bold enterprise.  This group incorporated with the name of the Guilford Battle Ground Company (GBGC) and petitioned the State Legislature for a charter.  The act of incorporation was passed and ratified on March 7, 1887.  Their stated purpose was that the corporation would exist “for the purpose of preserving and adorning the grounds on which the battle of Guilford Court House was fought” and the “erection of monuments, tombstones, or other memorials to commemorate the heroic deeds of the American patriots who participated in this battle.”  The actions of David Schenck and the GBGC marked one of the earliest steps in the country to save a battlefield of the American Revolution.





In May 1887, the GBGC held their first meeting, organized the structure of the company and elected Schenck as president, a position he held until his death in 1902.  The GBGC then set out to carry out the purposes for which it was formed.  
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War Department





The Guilford Battle Ground Company





The creation of the battlefield was largely due to the vision, the energy, and the devotion of David Schenck (1835-1902).  A lawyer by profession and a Superior Court Judge, Schenck moved with his family to Greensboro from Lincoln County in the early 1880’s.  Schenck made the transition as he accepted the position of General Counselor for the Richmond and Danville Rail Road Company a position he described as being “ideal”, for it provided him a handsome salary and most pleasing to him, periods of free time. 





Schenck wasted few opportunities to drive his horse and buggy the five miles north of the city for the sole purpose of studying the battlefield where the armies of Greene and Cornwallis clashed on March 15, 1781. On a visit in October 1886, Schenck wrote that he decided to purchase the site of the battle in order “…to redeem the battlefield from oblivion.”  It was late in the day before he returned home with an irresistible urge to carry out his plan. It spurred him to immediate action; before twilight faded, he had bargained to purchase thirty acres of land.








In 1917, 136 years after the battle was fought, Guilford Courthouse became the first American Revolutionary War battle site preserved by the United States government.   Ironically, Guilford Courthouse was a British victory.  With the help of David Schenck, the Guilford Battle Ground Company, and the Federal government, the Battle of Guilford Courthouse on March 15, 1781 will always be remembered.  





A Special First








Directors of the Guilford Battle Ground Company, ca. 1887.


(GBGC President David Schenck seated at center)








Guilford Courthouse





Site of Rememberance: 


Guilford Courthouse National Military Park








Guilford Battleground, 1892





Guilford Courthouse NMP, 2003





Since the 1960’s the park has had to face a major threat—surrounding development and its consequences. From the park’s beginning in the 1880’s the battlefield setting had been primarily rural, but in less than a hundred years, that setting had changed to a suburban one. By the time the City of Greensboro annexed land around the park in 1987, new housing and business construction was already flourishing.  By the year 2000, the park had changed little in size over twenty years. 





Historical research proves that the battlefield is five times larger than the 220+ acres of the park.  Beginning that year, new parcels of land were added to the park and undisturbed surrounding properties in private and city-held hands were all designated a National Historic Landmark.  








In 2001 a major historical change to the battlefield and its interpretation was the correction of an error made by the park’s founders in 1887.  It had long been recognized by National Park Service and academic historians that the 1887 marking of the third line was too far west.  The park corrected this error by moving the line position 450 yards to the east, matching both topographical features on a British officer’s map, drawn on the field, and various period accounts. 





The Guilford Battleground Company, Inc. re-organized in the 1980s to continue the important work begun by its 19th century predecessor. The GBC succeeded in preventing the destruction of a 7.5 acre tract of the battlefield along with the historic Hoskins House.  Tannenbaum Historic Park (originally conceived as “Liberty Park”) was deeded to the City of Greensboro in 1988, under whose care it was managed for the next 22 years.  The GBC’s original dream of adding this site to Guilford Courthouse National Military Park was finally realized in January 2010 when the site was transferred by the City of Greensboro to the National Park Service.


The future challenge for Guilford Courthouse National Military Park and the Guilford Battleground Company, Inc. is to continue the legacy of the park founders who dreamed of the preservation and restoration of this important battlefield.  The GBC continues to assist Guilford Courthouse NMP in securing and preserving this important Revolutionary War battlefield.
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Challenges





The National Park Service





In 1933, by an act of Congress, all battlefields under the care of the War Department, including Guilford Courthouse National Military Park, were transferred to the US Department of the Interior to be administered by the National Park Service.





After the transfer, the park underwent changes to restore the battlefield to its proper historic setting; many changes were made to begin the process of bringing the grounds back to the open woodland over which the American and British forces fought. 








In 1937, along with developmental changes to provide the park visitor with information about the battle, a new visitor center, trails, roads, and new interpretive markers were constructed. 





Despite all these changes, the landscape was still not the historical scene of the 1780’s. In the late 1960’s the park increased in size. Over eighty acres of battlefield land was added. In 1975 a new visitor center with new trails and exhibits were dedicated for the two-hundredth anniversary celebrations. The Bicentennial served to heighten interest in the American Revolution with a rise in park visitation. 











“Guilford Battle-Ground”, ca. 1893








David Schenck











